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   Praise for Iain Sinclair

   ‘Follow Iain Sinclair into the cloud jungles of Peru and emerge questioning all that seemed so solid and immutable. The Gold Machine made me angry, sad, envious of Sinclair’s beautiful, evocative prose and grateful that I did not have to endure a soroche headache to gain a new understanding of colonial attitudes and the damage we have done.’

   Barry Miles

   ‘Iain Sinclair remains the reigning ambassador from the kingdom of books, a fifty-year argument for the practice and legitimacy of writing. The Gold Machine extends the argument. Sinclair and his daughter travel to Peru and re-create the colonial expedition of his great-grandfather, pathways laid out in the forgotten ancestor’s published works. This is what the template has always been, will always be. Find an old book, absorb its secret message, go outside and destroy yourself in its service. Brilliant.’ 

   Jarett Kobek, author of I Hate the Internet

   ‘This is some of the best prose Sinclair has ever written – its poetic playfulness always in energetic tandem with razor-sharp observation. The book also transcends the genres you throw at it. It is a post-colonial essay haunted, if not deeply disturbed, by what the complex literary spirits of Conrad, Poe, Burroughs, Ginsberg and Ed Dorn bring to the party, a peripatetic séance in Amazonia often rudely interrupted by reality. This is an enthralling read.’

   Paul Tickell, film-maker and journalist

   ‘Ceylon, Australia and Peru, as well as Dundee, Maesteg and, of course, Hackney too. The Gold Machine thrusts a sharp and revealing probe into the not always leafy heartlands of Britain’s imperial past. Perfect reading for anyone keen to understand how this history continues to weigh on the present, and a prophetic last word for those Brexit-crazed champions of “unwoke” England who refuse to accept that it is over.’

   Patrick Wright, Professor (emeritus) of Literature, History and Politics, King’s College London

   ‘Sentence for sentence, there is no more interesting writer at work in English.’

   John Lanchester
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   For Farne and Arthur Sinclair, their dialogue
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   I am the Gold Machine and now I have trenched out, smeared, occupied…

   – Charles Olson, The Maximus Poems

   After this road, what then? You’ve said it yourself, there’ll be another one like this. What then, Peru?


   – Tim Binding, Beneath the Trees of Eden

   He doesn’t have any family, he’s a writer.


   – Julio Cortázar, Hopscotch

  

 
  
   
‌Glints

  

 
  
   
‌By the Brown River

   I woke early on a bed of broken slats in a house on stilts, across the beaten dirt from a fast-flowing river. Less a house, in truth, than a bamboo-walled cabin with a red tin roof on which rain drummed at the appointed season. Sunrise and sunset were also predictable: a bleary six a.m. glance at my watch and a six p.m. nod, when cicadas launched their irritated summons to cloud jungle vespers. Darkness dropped like a theatre curtain. The shack had been built to accommodate visitors the villagers really didn’t want.

   ‘These people are basically shy,’ the anthropologist warned, ‘and that can manifest as disdain. They are fearful of psychic contact. And proud to the point of arrogance.’

   We come as thieves disguised with gifts.

   3,162 miles from Hackney. 152 miles from London to the mining town where I grew up. 389 miles from there to Aberdeen, the city from which my grandfather travelled to South Wales. We know how far we have come, but we don’t know why. Or how we can adapt to this place. Or who we are without familiar markers, the trees and stones and cracked windows that know us. That confirm our passage.

   The long night, after the dogs had settled, was a wrestle under a snap-assembled mosquito net which made me feel like one of the black piglets we had seen in the animal market at Chupaca; wide eyes and pink snout pushing against the imprinting mesh of the sack, stoic before slaughter. Riverside insects were replete, otherwise engaged. In any case, I had a shirt impregnated with chemicals ninety-five per cent guaranteed to repel them. It was the five per cent, when I heard them fizzing against the television set, hung on the wall like an erased portrait of a forgotten ancestor, that kept me scrabbling to stay inside my claustrophobic coop. It would have been easier to sleep on the floor. The bed had two widely separated functional slats and a couple of others in critical disrepair. After a brief interlude the uneasy visitor, hungry for the respite of dreams, would sink through the gap, as through the boards of a rotten swampland coffin.

   Rising in the privilege of the still sensational and pulsing dark, it was more appealing to step out for a piss among the trees than to paddle across a slaughter of muddy footprints to waterless en suite facilities. The only detail that offended me was the suspended television set. Electricity was an invasive and potentially lethal extra, flaring, even when switched off, in arbitrary revelation like a cheap headpunch vision, then flickering in frosty static and fading away. The presence of that screen, dripping with unattached wires, was a blatant attempt to turn part of the settlement into an adventure tour Holiday Inn. Even dead screens whisper. The villagers see us as white ghosts, hollowed of meaning. And they are justified in that.

   In earlier times, when a member of the extended family sickened and died, they held the house responsible, burnt it down and moved on. An empty house prepared for some wealthy alien, a faceless stranger who may never come, is a dangerous thing. The face reflected in the TV screen when you try to flatten your hair before the communal breakfast stays in the screen after you depart.

   There are chopped, stripped trees left on the ground to act as benches, entitled chickens are pecking the dirt around them. I don’t see any of the villagers about their business, but I know they are watching me. I amble out, not sure how to make a morning circuit of it, down the thin strip of beach. The sand is fine-grained, a mortuary grey. Fetched against a thick balsa pole, part of an uncompleted or washed-up raft, is a display of bright blue plastic bottles, silver cans, oranges, black bags, broken twigs and dead leaves. The hills on the other side are hidden in threads of fine white mist. I walk slowly as far downriver as the beach will take me, before the village submits to the jungle. Then I return, poking and sifting.

   Later that morning, before we set off on our compulsory hike to the waterfall, a small delegation of elders approaches Lucho, our guide. They have witnessed my short tour with some alarm. And they have a question for the intermediary. ‘Is the old man looking for gold?’

  

 
  
   
‌Something out of Something Else

   The jungle began in London, a set of unstable particulars less secure every time I set foot outside my door. I read so intensely around my project that reading became the project. I unscrolled duplicitous maps. Teasing fragments showed no sign of cohering. This Peruvian expedition had been an unspoken obligation most of my working life. It was now a necessity, perhaps an endgame. I spent hours arranging recovered family photographs against group portraits of killer bands of Ashaninka posed against the walls of the Coffee Colony with their antiquated weapons. Uncensored glares burnt a challenge through fading museum reproductions. Angela Carter, commenting on my fetish for postcard divination, called up ‘the profane spirit of surrealism’. She knew that cards, laid out in a preordained grid, must tell a story. And that torrents of desperate words would have to be expended to complete it. ‘At once they become scrutable’, she wrote. ‘They are images of imperialism.’

   The warriors were right to be fearful, as I was, of this form of psychic contact. And capture. They were not defeated by military opportunism or the choking tentacles of capital. They were leeched of life force by cameras, by the self-serving reports of adventurers and priests, by the double game of Seventh-day Adventists promising treasure harvests on the day of final judgement. With the Victorian passion for books of adventure, summoning young men of spirit to the farthest reaches of Empire, came library shelves of coffee histories aimed at seducing neophyte planters. The map in my head, soon to be translated into real-world geography, was as much a fiction as one of those territorial advertisements drawn by some unscrupulous Franciscan missionary, hot for preferment, and escape from the barren back country of Andalucía. Priests of no family, dazed by the golden caves of the great cathedral and the satellite churches of Seville, ventured everything. They knelt, before shipping out, never to return, before glycerine madonnas touched by the Midas finger of a single transmuting ray of sunlight. The doodled map in my notebook, like the maps of those unholy fathers, was broken into bullet-point incidents: mules, mountains, rapids and rafts. And men with bows and spears.
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   My daughter Farne lent me a thick, ring-bound bundle of papers: Campa Cosmology: The World of a Forest Tribe in South America by the anthropologist Gerald Weiss. ‘There is no such occurrence,’ Weiss wrote, ‘as a creation of something out of nothing, but only a transformation of something out of something else.’

   In my cycle of haunted London dreams of a jungle village I might never reach, it was hard to separate the shaman with the drum, the tampóro, from the circling, swaying, rhythm-intoxicated dancers moving around the fire. Or emerging, so it seemed, right out of the flames. I couldn’t see through the curtain of smoke. I was dreaming the same dream my father and grandfather had dreamed, after they died. The place where our founding ancestor waited with a sick king for balsa rafts to be constructed, so that he could take to the river.
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   They knew that song, the children, old men and even the monkey-trickster with the skin-tight skeleton suit. But when a very ancient, wrinkled, parchment-skinned grandmother introduced, softly, in a throat whisper, a new song, they picked it up at once. And they laughed when she plucked a dark leather pouch from the neck of her cushma and squeezed a drop or two of tobacco syrup onto to her lizardly tongue: before feigning instant intoxication, heart-seizure, and falling, poleaxed, to the ground. She was playing it and experiencing it with the same relish. And the other dancers tumbled with her, still laughing.

   Scorched earth and ashes are raked into a black carpet, sliced and rolled like a freshly laid English lawn. And a rigid body, my own, eyes wide open, is laid in the yawning gash. The living ground, untouched by human hand, covers itself again, leaving no trace of the swallowed sacrifice. The swaying dancers, still drumming, melt away into the forest and the night.

   That was my recurrent dream before I left Hackney. Resinous quinilla woodsmoke formed an active column, straight up through the windless night, before wrapping itself around the platform of the sentinel tower on which I had hidden, in order to witness the secret ceremony of my own internment. The necklaced shaman listened to the protests of the crackling wood as the flames licked and devoured.

   ‘The Hollow Ones,’ he pronounced, ‘will be roasted like white-lipped peccaries and returned, as food for our fellow men, in the reaches of the jungle where paths fail.’

   Hungry flames converted the report from the American Museum of Natural History into ash, which would, soon after dawn, be swept up, black-bagged and dumped in the river. William Faulkner talks about how ghosts always travel half a mile ahead of their own shape. My jungle dream was like that. An unreliable preview. Travel before travel. Understanding before experience. Experience before evidence. Random thefts from the library of the lost as prospectus for a journey outlined in some Book of the Dead.

   The cosmology of the Campa, according to Weiss, and according to the blackened page I read in my dream, predicted and preordained my ancestor-stalking trip to Peru in the summer of 2019. A journey that would require the nudge of an impatient and better-informed daughter.

   Heartsick for his lost grandfather, Kíri decides to go downriver… A group of his relatives pursue him, intent upon killing him… They attempt to shoot him with their arrows, but only shoot each other… Kíri then advises the survivors to kill him by driving a spike down through his head and body into the ground.


   I had another book, written by my Scottish great-grandfather, and published in 1895, as my source and inspiration. Arthur Sinclair travelled downriver on a balsa raft. In some way yet to be defined, I believed that Arthur was out there, in the territory, a hungry ghost unconcerned with ‘closure’. Too many words, too many journeys on trains and planes, left me sick and used up. It felt as if the world I knew was about to go into quarantine. Shivering, sweating, sneezing, before this crisis arrived, I reached for the nearest Faulkner and treated myself to torrential language-clots from Yoknapatawpha County. But there was no escape from the suck of river sand and the jungle village. I had hardly begun Absalom, Absalom! when I found this sentence: ‘And anyone could have looked once at his face and known that he would have chosen the river and even the certainty of the hemp rope, to undertaking what he undertook even if he had known that he would find gold buried and waiting for him in the very land which he had bought.’

   The land my unquiet great-grandfather purchased through the act of describing it, and the months of his diminishing life he donated to this adventure with its tumultuous consequences, called me out. Before I could start where he finished, and write my way back to him, I would need to uncover some part of who and what he once was.

  

 
  
   
‌Dirty Sand

   Lucho Hurtado, a short powerful man of the mountains, moved swiftly and easily between worlds. He possessed all the implements required to confront potential difficulties of the trail. Patting the numerous pockets of his rough fisherman’s waistcoat, he was reassured of his readiness to follow the Amazon from ‘its farthest origins to the final encounter with the Atlantic Ocean’. He offered elite travellers the opportunity to ‘meet locals from the cloud forest and low jungle, and to feel the way of living of the people in different ecosystems’. Lucho made Huancayo, a railway terminal, his base: a busy, dizzy, traffic-fretted, horn-blasting dust sprawl where altitude-sick travellers could earth their hammering migraines and find a tourist-appropriate hotel where they could set up an authentic round of pisco sours while the floor trembled beneath them. He would never knowingly undersell his pitch, but Lucho had solid investment in backpacker hostels and an upstairs restaurant specialising in pizza and scorched chicken variants.

   After a few long days on the road, our eyes shut on blind bends and detours around landslips, Lucho brought us to his finca, which was titled from abbreviations of the names of all his children. A composite word that looked as if it had been constructed to represent something impossible in the Quechua language. The children now lived with their mother in another country on the far side of the Pacific. The small farm was somewhere to take stock, to dip in a green pool that might yet become a fish speculation, and to prepare for our descent, on foot, to the river.

   The stories came, after dark, at the long table where we took our communal dinner. We had brought, against advice, a bottle of native Peruvian wine, and it did not disappoint. It was every bit as wretched, perfumed like cheap hair oil, as Lucho had warned. But there were assorted herbal beers on offer and, for the reckless among us, a mouth-numbing hit from the moonshiner’s carboy with the metal tap. This festering trench water had a few inches of bloody scum on the surface. And it was just possible to see something as thick as my wrist floating, or moving, through it. A decapitated snake. The medicinal potion took months to ferment, dripping slowly now into china mugs, where faint pomegranate patterns had been brutally dissolved by the acid of previous infusions.

   The kitchen was a gracious room with crossbeams like a native hut, but high-roofed in recycled corrugated materials and dressed with stained-glass windows rescued from failed investments, demolished hotels, bars, bordellos. The finca was a history of reconsidered projects, nothing wasted. A huge, nailpaint-loud red American fridge was freestanding in the middle of the floor, like a resprayed version of Kubrick’s monolith from 2001: A Space Odyssey. A pop art trophy scavenged from some Cola-supplied counter-insurgency base in El Salvador. The fridge was not connected and now served as a store cupboard for preserving important documents from the depredations of ants. It was surrounded by bunches of green bananas, freshly cut that morning by visitors trusted with lethal machetes. Sliced razor-thin and quickfried in deep fat, the plantains would provide a crunchy base for our fish dinner.

   Lucho’s village ‘boy’, reversed baseball cap and matching labial-pink T-shirt, took the ritual launch of the yarning session as his cue to climb on his motorbike and head home, to partner and first child. The young man had heard it all before, but Lucho was disappointed to lose him. He liked to see his drivers and field workers join us at the table.

   The first of the session’s tales concerned a tourist party he was about to lead over sections of the Inca Trail. Before they set out, a group of riverside Ashaninka, with whom he had previously dealings, came to Lucho’s house in Huancayo, to demand a particular favour. They knew that, from time to time, he undertook diplomatic and railway business in Lima. Would he carry a sample they had procured, on their own land, for analysis? They were convinced that river sediment contained traces of gold.

   He could not refuse, but Lucho was appalled. If the analysis was positive, he knew that speculators would move in. Sections of the forest would be felled, the ground chewed up, and the river clogged with spoil. But he had been entrusted with this burdensome task, it was an obligation if he wanted to sustain his mutually beneficial relationship with the Ashaninka.

   The tourist troop were staying, before they headed off to the mountains, in a palm-fringed border town hotel, a place owned by the brother-in-law of the police captain and used for entertaining visiting dignitaries and minor tax officials. Trivial but annoying difficulties – rooms unprepared, detritus of all-night parties floating in the swimming pool – were sorted out by a few sharp words. Lucho’s driver was on time and occupied giving his fly-suicide windscreen a wipe, while the walkers, Germans and South Africans with experience in the bush, loaded their kit. They were ready for any hazard and welcomed the thought of it. That is what they were paying for, dollars preferred.

   But that scoop of native earth carrying the expectations of the tribe, the task laid on Lucho… where was it? Disaster. He had left the bottled sample at his bedside in the hotel. He was forced to abandon the excursionists. They were all competent, they could make camp, find water, start a fire, and wait for his return.

   Lucho demanded the key to his old room. He turned the place over. Nothing. No trace. He stormed the desk: who was responsible for cleaning? Send the miscreant up at once.

   A nervous boy appears, denies everything. Lucho opens his travelling bag and shows the empty slot where the sample should have been. He also shows, quite by accident, he affirms, a large Bowie knife with a serrated, bone-carving blade. The boy backs off, trembling. He runs from the room. And out of the hotel.

   The police, associates of the hotel manager, arrive. Lucho’s interrogation is lengthy and physically persistent. He is left in the cells to consider his fate. But the sample, the potential golden harvest, is never found. Eventually, papers sorted, he is released. And, looking on the bright side now, he does not have to bear the guilt of being, in some measure, responsible for the ruinous exploitation of the land.

  

 
  
   
‌The Silence in the Forest

   My great-grandfather, guided – in his view – by a pair of duplicitous and drunken priests, was stumbling and slithering down the old Ashaninka salt route, now a future trade highway, towards an encounter with the indigenous chief who would give the command for the construction of balsa rafts to carry the invaders along the Rio Perené to impassable and unmapped rapids. The commissioned surveyors, former planters from Ceylon, were done, ready to lie down where they stood, cocked weapons resting across their laps. As is so often the way of these things, they had, at their lowest ebb, stumbled on a great secret. It was hidden in plain sight a short distance from the settlements of Metraro and Mariscal Cáceres, linked villages that would, in a few years, come to be dominated by Seventh-day Adventists, offering schools, chapels and medical centres. Charitable developments covertly sanctioned by the Peruvian Corporation of London, the insatiable predators who would establish the great coffee estates on which these villagers were obliged to labour. Giving up their old gods for golden promises.

   But the road was a villainous rut at a gradient of about one in three, a width of about eighteen inches, and knee deep in something like liquid glue, Arthur Sinclair wrote in his published account of the 1891 expedition. Before we had gone five miles one-half the cavalcade had come to grief, and it was some weeks ere we saw our pack mules again; indeed, I believe some of them lie there still. We soon found out that the padres knew as little about the path as we did ourselves, and the upshot was we were benighted. Shortly after six o’clock we were overtaken in inky darkness, yet we plodded on, bespattered with mud, tired, bitten, and blistered by various insects. Whole boxes of matches were burned in enabling us to scramble over logs or avoid the deepest swamps. At last there was a slight opening in the forest, and the ruins of an old thatched shed were discovered, with one end of a broken beam still resting upon an upright post, sufficient to shelter us from the heavy dews. It turned out to be the tomb of some old Inca chief whose bones have lain there for over 350 years, and there, on the damp earth, we lay down beside them, just as we were. Our dinner consisted of a few sardines, which we ate, I shall not say greedily, for I felt tired and sulky, keeping a suspicious eye upon the Jesuit priests.


   The trail guides, Franciscan not Jesuit, were not deceiving this trio of white adventurers, hiding behind beards, dispatched by the Peruvian Corporation with a contract to survey and affirm. Sinclair’s party was being processed down an ancient and haunted desire line, from the Mountain of Salt to the living, surging, serpentine river, by way of the burial place of a godlike warrior, a splinter of origin: an emanation of Father Sun. The missionary priests were initiating these pale outsiders, nudging them forward with hints and selective misinformation, through the maze of psychic energies intricately woven to protect this place and to keep it free from the curse of visionary capitalism. 1891 was a fateful year, with three major expeditions – military, engineering and commercial – hellbent on pioneering routes for exploitation of this savage and enduringly lovely Eden. The wilderness garden from which the unrighteous had been expelled. And forever excluded.

   The salty residue of the sardine feast was a feeble sacrament to offer to the sodden ground on which they struggled to sleep.

   We were told, by the way, that the bones we were handling were the bones of Atahualpa, so treacherously murdered by Pizarro.


   A fantastic fable the priests concoct to entrap the credulous colonists with their moleskin journals and Kodak cameras. But in lisping such lies and alternative histories, the unholy fathers were also demonstrating respect for tactics employed by Indians under interrogation: agree reluctantly, after sharing food and exchanging gifts, to tell strangers whatever they want to know. Then contradict yourself, offer multiple versions. And deny all knowledge of the original conversation when you meet on another day.

   Atahualpa, the ‘last Inca Emperor’, was strangled with the infamous garrotte on 26 July 1533, before his clothes, and the strips torn from his skin, were burned. A merciful amendment to the original verdict: barbecuing at the stake. This sinister ritual was enacted many miles from Metraro. It was said that the Inca offered to fill a large room with gold, in order to ransom his life. After the mock trial, more of a preordained ceremony than a considered evaluation of guilt and innocence, an attendant friar, Vincente de Valverde, pressed his breviary into the affronted hands of the condemned man. Atahualpa was then baptised into the Catholic faith and marked with the name Francisco – in honour of his conqueror, the Spanish illiterate suckled by sows, the butcher of worlds: Francisco Pizarro.

   Gold, more spirit than substance, was pure intoxication. So fill the wooden holds of creaking cargo fleets. Stack the mass of bloody plunder in the expectant watchtowers of Seville. Cast another heretic saint for another gilded cathedral. Bless the armies of the damned.

   Túpac Amaru, hereditary Inca rebel, was beheaded in Cuzco’s Plaza de Armas, forty years after the death of Atahualpa. A persistent Andean myth claimed that the buried head would soon reconstitute itself, grow another body and initiate a golden age, a second and more powerful Inca empire.

   Arthur Sinclair, a Scot who was not so easily deceived, soon discovered that the place where he had slept was dedicated to a different Atahualpa, the charismatic Juan Santos, a highlander who adopted the title of the last Inca emperor when he led a very effective revolt against the Spaniards in the 1740s.

   I arrived in Mariscal Cáceres with my daughter Farne and the filmmaker Grant Gee on 9 July 2019. We were determined, if it were at all possible, to persuade one of the villagers to guide us to the burial place of Juan Santos Atahualpa. The point of connection with my great-grandfather’s published narrative.

   The Ashaninka we had already interviewed offered so many contradictory versions of the same tale: the shrine or hole or cavern belonged with the legends of childhood. A song of the grandmothers. With truths it was forbidden to reveal. With the land. Their land. Juan Santos Atahualpa had emerged from some obscure generative source like a black nuclear sun; a light so brilliant that eyes hidden behind shielding hands could peel away the skin gloves protecting the brittle bones of their fingers. The great chief, the undead and unsleeping commander, was said by some to be a spectre of whiteness: Juan Santos had travelled in foreign lands far across the ocean. And walked home across the obedient waves. Before he was betrayed, buried, divided, dispersed – and resurrected as a whispered myth, the gift-delivering, sun-crowned albino Messiah of the Adventists.

   We were bouncing and shuddering up the mountain road that had evolved from the original 1891 incursions of military engineers. My great-grandfather was not impressed.

   I have in other countries travelled in tracks traced and made by elephants, and had reason to admire their gradients and marvel at the topographical knowledge displayed, but anything so perfectly idiotic as this atrocious trail I had never before been doomed to follow so far. It was a relief to leave it and cut our own way through the jungle.


   A few miles out of Santa Ana, where rainy season landslides had turned the river to a ditch of red, mud-coloured rocks, we had to cede a little of our headlong velocity to avoid jolting over a ragged man sleeping in the middle of the road like a performance art traffic-calming device. He was known. He would stagger to his feet in a few hours and make his unsteady way back to the nearest hamlet, where he would find a little food and drink, enough to sustain him for another day. He was part of the intricate clockwork of the territory.

   The road had as many twists and eddies as the river. As soon as we started to climb, the cruel gradient committed itself to preparing us for Mariscal Cáceres. Tumbledown shacks made from scavenged planks owed their survival to the capitalised electoral slogans painted on their sides: (EL NEGRO) VENEGAS, EXPERIENCA y CAPACIDAD. There were graphic illustrations, like Jim Dine or Roy Lichtenstein, of a thick yellow pencil against a red background. The suggestion is: please make your mark on the ballot paper. Put your X right here. Get the representation you deserve. There is a wider world beyond the road, beyond the river. Beyond the coffee plantations.
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   Around a hairpin bend, beyond the point where an old woman had a stall serving some locally fermented drink, was a big blue sign with a schematic picture of a stooped pedestrian, propped up by a pilgrim’s staff. He appeared to be skipping across a torrent. CAVERNA JUAN SANTOS ATAHUALPA 11.6 km. And another skeletal silhouette of a man at the mouth of a cave: CAVERNA METRARO 9.9 km. The implication being that the cave of Juan Santos Atahualpa is 1.7 km beyond the village we are approaching. But when we return, at the end of the day, the blue sign has vanished.

   The old lady we left behind in the smoky twilight of the village settlement beside the Rio Perené told us, as we blinked and rubbed our eyes, that the cave – she had never been there – was once filled with weapons used in the rising against the colonists. In time, the Spaniards found and stole them. Now, dusty-mouthed and shaken, when we arrive at Mariscal Cáceres, Bertha, our former interviewee, is there ahead of us, helping to prepare the fish. She says that the body of Juan Santos was laid to rest in the cave on a bed of gold. Gold recovered from the Spaniards. And gold, when it is heaped up, multiplies. Breeds of its own volition. Juan Santos guarded it. The cave and the legend.

   One of the village elders said that the shrine was just a few hundred yards from where we were sitting and talking. It would take us ten minutes to walk there. No more. When we had shared food.

   After the meal, several hours in the preparation, was done and the exchanges made, the chief came to see us, a tame green parrot perched on his finger. The parrot whispered something in his patron’s ear. The chief said that he would lead us to the cave. But it was surely too far to walk before light failed, so we would have to ride in our car and follow our guides on their motorbike.

   The official biker was a slight, stringy man, with a cultivated bandit beard. And a baseball cap with a green leaf and an italicised slogan: dope. It was too easy to typecast this Netflix character as a trafficker, a coca mule who knew the best paths between the Salt Mountain and the Gran Pajonál. But the village chief, sitting behind the biker, was in charge. Neither man wore a helmet. They took us for a mazy hallucinogenic ride, twenty minutes, forty minutes, past plantations of blackened bananas, over treacle tracks fast reverting to streams. Without warning, they stopped. And beckoned us to follow.

   The man in the dope cap used his machete to cut a bamboo walking pole for Farne. The path through the jungle was steep. We imagined the sound of a distant torrent. The chief, in his flip-flops, was moving fast. We gripped the insecure curtain of vines under the dripping rock. The cliff crumbled as we rubbed against it, trying to stay on the provisional track. When our guide was gone, we hooked ourselves to saplings, right where we were; catching our breath, but scarcely breathing, as the biker explained how the chief needed to confirm that the path to the cave of Juan Santos Atahualpa was clear and navigable. ‘It’s not so very far, twenty minutes more.’
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   Thickening sugars of excitement, not fear, are absorbed into the green luxuriance of the enveloping trees. Sap informs our sweat. Our feet itch to form roots and drink from the reddish soil. If we can no longer hear the sound of the chief pushing the branches aside, there is no reason to expect his return. This is a commonplace of the novice in the jungle. ‘It is not the presence of unfriendly natives that wears one down,’ Michael Taussig wrote in Shamanism, Colonialism, and the Wild Man (A Study in Terror and Healing). ‘It is the presence of their absence, their presence in their absence.’ Place, when breath is swallowed and held, forgives the distinction between myth and documented witness. ‘People buried in an underground of time in the lowland jungles are endowed with magical force to flower into the present,’ Taussig claimed.

   All forward momentum, towards the cave and the teasing prospect of gold, is stalled. Warm saturated air flows through us. We steady ourselves against the curtain of slippery vegetation. Martin MacInnes, in Infinite Ground, a novel of disappearance and diminishing volition, catches the peculiar and disabling inertia that comes with being in the right place but the wrong story. ‘For the moment he didn’t seem specifically located, just general in the sounds of the birds calling, water dropping, twigs breaking and the branches falling.’

   It was a process of folding into the baffle of the silence. We were made aware – father, daughter, great-grandfather, on our quite distinct journeys – of a shared identity. And of the mute presence of the biker, the man in the dope cap, our trickster familiar. And his special relationship with the low jungle and the path; how he was permitted to pass through, only so long as he stayed on sanctioned routes, stayed within his agreed role. But now he was separated from the chief, the man who had bounded so swiftly beyond sight and sound. There was only the smothering foliage and a projected sympathy between trees, birds, stones, streams and intruders. The leathery fronds of the giant ferns were slatted blinds filtering a seductive distillation of sunlight – before, on the stroke of six o’clock, it withdraws completely. We were no longer waiting for anything or anybody. There was no conversation.

   ‘He was the deep sounds in the forest that had no explanation, the shadow at the edge of one’s vision,’ Joe Jackson wrote in The Thief at the End of the World. He is describing the fever dream of a renegade English plant-hunter and rubber pirate, Henry Wickham. Broken in health, attended by vultures perched on the end of his cot, the planter waited patiently for the end. He was nursed by neighbours who knew that he was doomed because he whispered that he had seen the curupira, ‘the little pale man of the forest’. An acknowledged harbinger of doom. ‘The souls of those who died at the hands of the curupira wandered forever in the forest. Survivors left part of themselves beneath the canopy and were never the same.’

   What had my great-grandfather, processed by two drunken priests down this same track, left behind? What would we leave, beyond some lame attempt to describe the magic of the forest suspension in which we found ourselves? Time is annulled. I thought, in an involuntary fugue of remembering, of trying to report, with accuracy, a golden November morning in Victoria Park. In London. The home that is fading so fast. A rising sun was dissolving the mist over the lake and working a natural miracle too ordinary to record. That place and this place, the then and the now. My identity lost somewhere between the two. The profligate autumn harvest of London plane, lime, copper beech, cherry and chestnut.

   There was a man on the long avenue of the people’s park, gripping a pilgrim’s stave in his right hand, elegant in a long black coat, like a jaded but inappropriately predatory architect in a French film. He was walking steadily backwards. As if to confound his own mortality and win back a few precious hours. I watched his confident progress. What would happen, I wondered, when he reached the railings? He swerved slightly, made an adjustment, and passed on, before dropping out of sight. He could have been a world-tramping sadhu. Or a regular Hackney dude proud in his calculated eccentricity. The famous backwards walker. As posted on all good social networks dedicated to trivia.

   Random memories do not help, even those yet to be programmed. We might never move again. The chief will not return and our biker guide is not permitted to lead us out of the jungle without him. We cannot invent the sound of the waterfall. Or the oracular echoes of the secret cave. There will be few better moments in our lives. A breath held stays held. Slowly, we give ourselves up to a pre-linguistic where. And to the stately dance of articulate shadows. ‘The evidence of his family line and all its members,’ Martin MacInnes wrote, ‘stained in the leaves.’ The leaves were the watchers.

   The way had not been hard enough yet to offer revelation. Arthur Sinclair, out of his knowledge, on the cusp of fever and hallucination, fated to bring back a favourable report, did come out of the rainforest, after that terrible sleepless night. He rested his head on a pillow of bones, animal and human. He was released from the strangulating confusion of the blasphemous jungle. Into the visions my daughter had chosen to challenge.

   
I shall never forget that calm, bright Sunday afternoon when we looked out for the first time on the great interminable forest of the upper valleys of the Amazon. Right in front of us as we stood with our faces to the east were evergreen hills of various altitudes, all richly clad, and undulating down towards the great plains of Brazil. We were standing at a height of 4,600 feet, but, even in that clear atmosphere, could see but a comparatively short distance; still it showed better than any words can convey the extent and richness of this vast reserve, and the absurdity of the cry that the world is getting over-crowded. Why, we have only as yet been nibbling at the outside borders, and are now trying to peep over the walls of the great garden itself…

The faint buzzing of bees, the subdued chirping of finely feathered birds, the flutter of brilliant butterflies, are the only commotion in the air, itself the perfection of summer temperature. What a glorious spot in which to form a quiet, comfortable home! Imagine this all the year round, every month seedtime and every month harvest. What crops of vegetables and fruit might not be produced in such a climate and such a soil! Had poor old Malthus only been permitted to look upon a country like this, so rich, and yet so tenantless, his pessimistic fears of the population outgrowing the means of sustenance would have quickly vanished.



   
   What rapacious innocence! How persuasive the completed Sinclair report lying on the desk of the investors in Leadenhall Street in the City of London. Already the golden expectations of the forest are turning green. Blood berries, soon to be harvested by indentured Ashaninka slaves, are ripening on the high ground where the boundary fences of the Coffee Colony will be set. Overseers must be hired. And armed. Barracks with barred windows will be constructed around the enclosed patios on which the abundant coffee harvest will be raked and left to dry. And books of unreliable memory will be published only to bring forth other books.

  

 
  
   
‌Frets

  

 
  
   
‌The Map on the Downstairs Wall

   ‘The past is everything. The future flows into the past, and cultivates the past, and renews the topsoil – if that’s possible.’


   – Ed Dorn

   It took about four and a half months to sail from Tilbury to Colombo. A drowsy and libidinous interlude for military passengers and excited emigrants, while officers, sailors, underpaid ‘lascars’ and harassed cooks stood watch and worked. The remission of the epic voyage became a shared dream; time for aspirant colonists to shuck off the husk of old failures and to invent new and improved biographies. On deck, at the stern rail, in the cool of the night, the travellers were dazzled by star fields they had never before admitted. Men talked over their cigars, exchanging stories, former lives mutating into new fictions. Think of Joseph Conrad’s five merchant-marine voyages to Australia. As first mate on the Torrens, he became acquainted with John Galsworthy and E.L. Sanderson, who had been searching the South Pacific, unsuccessfully, for traces of Robert Louis Stevenson. The failure of that quest redeemed by Conrad’s mesmerising conversation, the angular tilt of his chin, the maritime anecdotes.

   Assigned brides, traded by exchange of business correspondence to Ceylon planters, men they scarcely knew, often from the same country, even town or village – Aberdeen, Turriff – had too many nights in which to reconsider their awful fate. Trousseau laid out between tissue sheets, protected by canvas, and scented with lavender. Dried rose petals, virgin undergarments. Silver-backed hand mirrors, ivory combs, wrapped soap, pills, potions, scents. Painstakingly copied or newly composed poems. The brides did not complete the voyage. They came ashore in the furnace of Aden, and returned home with some fresh young officer who would, after a few fretful months, be back on the sea.

   Arthur Sinclair, shipping out in 1858, at the age of twenty-six, had the leisure, for the first time in his life, to write. To learn how to process events he had experienced or witnessed into prose, brisk and serviceable enough to intrigue the editors of newspapers in Aberdeen and Colombo; good men with whom he would build lifelong relationships. The favoured form was the anecdotal letter. Acceptable copy ran all the way from shipboard humour to a posthumously crafted obituary for which his long and busy life was a rehearsal. Every decade or so, my great-grandfather’s letters were collected and edited as fugitive chapbooks. But in so many tight-packed double columns, so many laboriously forged sentences, running into sprawling paragraphs, Arthur said nothing whatsoever about his family, his wife and six children. Where did he meet her? And how did she respond to a career of strategic migration?

   And how should I respond to the gallery of photographs hanging on the wall of a downstairs lavatory in Hackney? These strangers, the oldest of them younger than I am now, and the youngest of the boys a grandfather who died before I knew him, stare out, unmoving, trapped by the tricks of a paid professional. From time to time, while washing my hands, I take a shamed glance at these accusing ghosts. Who are they? What do they want with us?

   Arthur Sinclair and his unadmitted partner, the former Miss Margaret MacGregor, shepherd their proud brood: the three sons, another Arthur, Norman, Henry (my grandfather), and the three daughters, Maggie, Catherine, Gertie. The group portrait is credited to E. Geering of Aberdeen. Geering’s premises were established at 416 Union Street in 1893. Which would mean that the sturdy, confidently smiling paterfamilias had recently returned, not so much the worse for wear, from a year adventuring in Peru.

   Margaret sits, hands clasped, at the centre of the composition, the still point. She has withdrawn into herself, away from the tedium of the occasion, barely acknowledging the dutiful progeny that surround her. The oldest daughter, in a white-collared version of her mother’s dress, already the unmarried carer, rests a protective hand on young Norman’s shoulder. Her slightly younger sister presses against the fabric of her father’s dark all-weathers suit.
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   Out of the tidewrack of family mementoes, postcards, books, objects, clothes, furniture, these are the images that have passed through the generations from the last years of the nineteenth century. From all the unrecorded deaths and entrances, rootless Sinclairs now share a Hackney wall with strangers, with my wife’s paternal forebears on the edge of the Fens, the English flatlands. The dead ones grow younger as we age. Sometimes Anna dreams that her farming mob, loud and argumentative, are gathered in her childhood Lancashire home, questioning our summons. And waiting for us to join them in the long silence.

   It is not much to go on: the two great-grandfathers, Sinclair and Grassick (father of my grandmother), in separate studio mid-shots, now hanging, survivors of our own domestic clearances, side by side. And credited to two competing Aberdeen photographers: E. Geering and Alexander Wilkie. There is a traveller’s tangled salt-and-pepper beard for Arthur. And something more considered, the opportunistic proprietor of a Californian Gold Rush hotel, full moustache and barbered bristle-streak depending to a dinky spade chin, for Mr Grassick. We know nothing about this man, beyond the pictorial evidence of a raised collar and a thickly knotted, plant-bespattered tie. Some vestige of a riverboat gambler’s confidence and style.

   Moving along the rogues’ gallery of our chosen ancestors, we come to Arthur Sinclair’s intimate family group: the patriarch with the same undeceived expression he displays in his individual portrait. And then: the same family, the children much younger now, with rocking-horse, attendant maids in starched aprons, babes, and an expanse of coarse grass around a large, plain house revealed in a postcard as ‘Banff Castle, Banff’. The card has been sent to Miss Gertie Sinclair of The Elms, Manor Place, Cults.
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   ‘Sorry couldn’t obtain p.c. of Eden House. Had a lovely holiday.’
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   My impression is that there was a social fall, a retrenching in more modest circumstances. Arthur had returned, a made man from Ceylon, to settle in Scotland. Padded by colonial investments. In the Banff photograph he sprawls, boots on a stool, reading a newspaper. And then it all went badly wrong. The insects took their revenge.

   The final photograph, of an Edwardian couple, is a rather grave and dignified wedding portrait from Aberdeen in 1904. This one is just out of reach: my father’s father and mother. I never knew either of them, they died prematurely of their various cancers. I associate these invasive and terminal conditions, on no evidence whatsoever, with the translation from Aberdeen to industrial South Wales. You come out of your established territory, occupied and worked for centuries, at a cost. There is a period of necessary adjustment before descendants, benefiting from your sacrifices, can thrive.

   My grandfather Henry Sinclair, ‘a medical practitioner in Glamorganshire’, as the obituaries have it, inhabited the house where I grew up, and where he lived on, through inherited overcoats and images like postcards sent from beyond the grave. I handled the cold weight of the revolver he acquired at the time of the General Strike in 1926, but I did not fire it. This pocket weapon was a Webley .450, known as the ‘British Bull Dog’ model. It was kept, wrapped in linen, in a cigar box at my father’s bedside. The design originated in 1867 and was adopted by the Irish Constabulary a year later. An ivory-handled pair were said to have been carried by George Armstrong Custer at the Battle of Little Big Horn. ‘British Bull Dog’ revolvers were issued to all employees of the Southern Pacific Railroad Company. My grandfather made the round of his patients, many of whom, out of work or too poor to pay, were treated for nothing, by motorbike. He would not be stopped by roving bands of strikers, with their justified grievances. He was by temperament a conservative. My grandmother, on the other hand, was a committed Liberal. There is an excited account in the local paper of a visit to the town by Herbert Gladstone, son of William (Grand Old Man of the Party). Every word of his speech, every cheer, every aside, is reported. Herbert comes, in delirious procession, to the doctor’s house.

   ‘At Bridgend the station was crowded with spectators, while at Tondu the residents turned out in thousands in order to catch a glimpse at the son of the Grand Old Man as he passed through. At Maesteg, however, a reception of the most triumphant character awaited him.’


   The contrasting shades of political opinion of the ancestors gathered in our crop of photographs never came between them. Marriages did not turn on debate over public events. Such things were unmentionable, or they simmered quietly, mild aphrodisiacs of theoretical difference.

   I registered my never-known Scottish grandfather, the one who made the move to Wales as a young medical assistant, fresh from the University of Aberdeen, only through whatever residual traces could be absorbed by running my fingers over the thin skin of photographs. Frozen moments survive to carry the burden of biography. Henry Sinclair, a young man, seated in the front row of his cricket team. Then the mature householder, neat moustache, three-piece suit, watch chain, wedding ring and pipe. He leans against the grain of pebbledash, the fogged border of net curtains: the house where I grew up, the back of it, spaces I explored. This stranger was the printed spectre of wherever I came from, caught and fixed; my grandfather’s left hand, with the wedding ring, resting on the rough concrete of the windowsill. And his other hand, so gently shaped, was a perch for a large green Amazonian parrot, his special favourite. His jungle familiar. On one of my scavenging expeditions I found the big cage on a stack of coal in the garage and put it, right away, into my first film. I liked everything about that parrot portrait. I saved a place for it, as an illustration, in my early book of poems, Muscat’s Würm.
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   For the last sighting – and by that time, wartime, I was in or almost in the human world – the retired doctor is an old man in a summer garden, too thin for his tailored grey suit and grey homburg. But he is moving, so he’s alive, and repeating his actions every time the sprocket-driven procession of still frames is jagged through the projector. A 16mm home movie recorded on a camera retrieved from a captured U-boat. My grandfather is under sentence and at his ease, taking tea in the sunshine, attended by his daughter-in-law, my Welsh mother. His eyes are weak now and he looks uncannily like the exiled James Joyce, recuperating from another operation. He holds up a slice of seed cake and his obliging Scotch terrier jumps. And jumps. And jumps again. I refilmed the sequence, from the screen, on 8mm, to become part of a six-year ‘Diary’ of community life in Hackney. The image is degrading. The cake is held out. The dog jumps and falls. And jumps again. Thin bones from an enveloping sleeve, clawed grip.

   But it’s my grandmother’s face in the wedding photograph that entices me. An expression which is not quite melancholy, but which engages so directly with the photographer. No artifice, no special pleading. Here is a face in which I can, if I reach for it, find some trace element of myself. The young doctor, curled moustache, high collar, wrists lost in celluloid cuffs, gazes off to the side, under control but primed for the first rustle behind the curtains, coming catastrophe. Dark weather for dark times. The woman’s dress falls to the floor in icy layers of satin and lace. It is perfected, this confrontation, and it will never happen again. She does not have the long-nosed hatchet look of the other highland women. The print of Scottish storms carried away to distant lands and, sometimes, back again.

   Alongside the family portraits on the lavatory wall was Arthur Sinclair’s map, drawn by hand during the course of the voyage of the Albemarle: ‘London to Ceylon, 1858’. The ink is brown like insect blood, the paper is curling and tanned. They came through the Bay of Biscay in February and around the Cape of Good Hope in May. A dotted line of progress, logged each night, reminds me of the real route sailed by the fated Donald Crowhurst. His meandering South Atlantic suicide shadowed by phantom reports of nautical miles never actually achieved. The Albemarle comes close to brushing against a mammary protuberance acknowledged as ‘South America’. The vessel gives St Helena a wide berth in April and puts in at Tristan da Cunha. ‘Total distance: 14000 miles.’ On Arthur’s map, Australia has somehow drifted far to the north. And a vestigial Indian subcontinent is capped by ‘Hindostan’. In Britain there are only two notable settlements: London and Banff.

   When, on our return from Peru, I met a pair of previously unknown Australian cousins, I was presented with another beguiling cache of postcards and photographs. And I was touched to discover, among the ephemera, a railway ticket, 3rd Class, from Aberdeen to London (St Pancras), via Tay & Forth Bridges, Settle & Bedford. A miraculously preserved record of that momentous journey? Tilbury and out. The ocean of the world in which to drown the past.

   What was left after all those archival interrogations, and what stayed with me for every mile of my attempt to track Arthur’s route over the Andes and down into the cloud forest, was the enigma of that unyielding smile. The creases of amusement framing an alert and penetrating gaze. The interplay between conflicted instincts: the engaged and informed observations of the professional plantsman and the cynicism of a travel writer twisting the world to conform to his portrait of it.

   With a legible hand and a swift stroke of underlining emphasis, my great-grandfather has autographed his engraved portrait. He insists on taking responsibility for a biographical version somebody else has authored. Credit must be disputed with the ever-obliging E. Geering of Aberdeen. Arthur Sinclair, recorded, is subject and object.

  

 
  
   
‌Visiting Agent

   ‘Travel is a good thing. It stimulates the imagination. Everything else is a snare and a delusion. Our own journey is entirely imaginative. Therein lies its strength.’


   – L-F. Céline, Journey to the End of the Night

   When Arthur Sinclair, who was almost certainly unaware that he shared a Christian name with the renegade poet Rimbaud, and whose writing was a sidebar to his travelling and not the imperative that propelled flight from home, came to publish, five years before his death, The Story of His Life and Times as Told by Himself, he got the whole matter done in thirty-four brisk pages. He recycled, as so many authors do in the diminishing light of a fading career, strategic selections from previously issued material. He cannibalised back numbers of the Tropical Agriculturalist. The way he promoted himself, in bold caps on the cover, was as PLANTER AND VISITING AGENT. A sanctioned spook, or double man, fingers in the soil.

   In a snug, little farm-house at King Edward, Aberdeenshire, I was born one dreigh day in December, 1832. The autobiographical sketch opens in orthodox fashion. My earliest recollection is a ploughing match, or ‘love darg’, by the neighbours on the occasion of my father retiring to Turriff, an adjacent township.


   My great-grandfather was sent to school at the age of five, where he learned to knit: ‘a technical education which has not as yet proved eminently useful to me’. He matriculated in carrying peat to the classroom and committing approved biblical texts to memory.

   In my tenth year my school education virtually ended, untoward circumstances followed… my father removing again to a bleak country district, where the school and schoolmaster belonged to a type so poor and primitive as to be quite a revelation in the village-bred boy… My parents were descended from an old Jacobite stock, at this time still rather at a discount… And here I may say ended my schooling and began my education such as it was and is.


   Arthur’s father took work where he could find it as a jobbing thatcher. Whatever the family’s ‘untoward circumstances’ in an era of agricultural ‘improvements’, rent increases and clearances, Arthur did not choose to expose them. Or to allow his father, mother and unnamed siblings any significant space in the late-life confession. These things happened, in a certain order, but it was always about finding land of his own, a home place with a garden, a favoured setting to be recollected in confident prose, but not actually occupied for any length of time: movement was the highest truth. The only country where Arthur could retire in 1900, when his chapbook was published, was the past.

   ‘For sale,’ wrote Rimbaud in Illuminations, ‘homelands and migrations… perfect comfort, perfect enchantments, and the noise, the movement, the future in which they conspire.’

   Internal Scottish migration, brought about by crop failure and fungal blight, was commonplace. Rhythms between subsistence and shortage defined the seasons. But, as T.M. Devine reveals in The Scottish Clearances (A History of the Dispossessed, 1600–1900), tenant farmers, labourers and cottars were more fortunate in Banff, Kincardine and Aberdeen than their fellows in the Lothians and Berwickshire. There was better land and a ‘more balanced agrarian situation’. The alluvial soil of the estuaries and the ‘carse’ lands furnished the most extensive areas of continuous arable in the whole of Scotland. There was abundant corn and pasturage.

   
I was not lazy; indeed, my little garden was already looked upon as an oasis in a wilderness of moorland farms, and a neighbouring farmer seeing my industry, gave me off a corner of a field measuring perhaps quarter of an acre, which I tackled with as much diligence as any Chinaman, getting up at 4 a.m. and working till late at night.

The year was 1846, the summer one of the loveliest of the century. A little burn rippled past the grounds in which by way of relaxation I bathed, caught trout and culled the Nymphaea from its margin; but my special pride was a plot of potatoes: the grand old blue kidney, nowhere now to be seen. No coffee planter ever saw with greater interest his first 100-acre clearing burst into blossom.

Early one July morning I got up to watch the flowers expanding, when I observed what seemed drops of soot upon the tender green leaves. It looked like the work of some malicious miscreant, but no footprints were there, and I felt fairly puzzled. Next morning there were still more ‘soot drops’, and everyday during the week added to the mystery, till at length the haulins began to blacken, and a sickening smell greeted me as I approached my precious plot. I was only 14 years of age, but I shall never forget my first great discouragement as a planter; and when a quarter of a century afterwards I saw coffee attacked with a similar blight, I could not help remembering my early sorrow and fearing how little science could do for us.



   
   
   The potato blight was not as devastating in Scotland as in Ireland, but the loss of a subsistence crop, by the early nineteenth century a major part of a native diet shifting from grains and gruel, hit hardest in Argyll and the Western Isles. There was a push towards emigration, especially (for agriculturalists) towards Canada, with the United States favoured by mechanics and big city dwellers. Banff and Aberdeenshire suffered less. Arthur’s early exposure to the magic of the noble potato, those sweetly edible earth eggs, led to a lifelong affinity. But his innocent first love had mildew on her cheeks.

   Having crossed the Andes in a mule train, scrambling breathlessly to 17,000 feet above sea level, there was an identity-revising, life-affirming vision of the new world.

   A region unlike anything we have ever before seen… The clear sky above, the occasional clouds chasing each other up from the valley of the Amazon, only to be dissipated on the snowy peaks which they cannot possibly pass, above all the glorious sun, so welcome a benefactor here, that we can no longer marvel that it was the great object of worship by the Inca… Excellent wheat and barley are grown… This is also the home of the potato, it having been cultivated here as carefully as it now is in Europe, perhaps hundreds of years before America was discovered by Europeans. ‘Papa’ they are still called, being the old Inca name of the tuber; and the quality is fully equal to the best we have produced here; moreover, they have some varieties better than any of ours, one of which I hope to introduce to Scotland.


   From this moment in the Peruvian journey that defined his life, and in many ways the journey for which he had always been preparing himself, Arthur began to intuit, without fully developing the conceit, that there was a connection between the challenging existence of the highland settlements in Scotland and the land occupied by indigenous people on both banks of the Rio Perené. Once that debatable proposition had been aired, coincidence would somehow manage to supply the evidence.

   Looking back on his heritage, late in the day, Arthur laid claim to coming from ‘discounted’ Jacobite stock as a way of sentimentalising the meanness of his childhood circumstances, the lack of inherited ground, and the family’s removal to harsher country. The punitive savagery of the London government’s repressive measures, after the defeat of the last Jacobite uprising in 1745, and after the slaughter of the clans at Culloden field, found an echo in the inherited myths, reinforced with every telling, of the Ashaninka in Peru: the songs of loss, years of slavery following the establishment of the coffee colonies. With no exodus in prospect. No offshore oil strikes. And nothing to hope for beyond the remote prospect of finding gold. Or winning the lottery.

   The Hanoverian enforcer, who inherited his role from Prince William, Duke of Cumberland, was William Anne Keppel, the second earl of Albemarle. This aristocrat’s chosen tactic was total war: ground-zero devastation, with the affirmed intention of deporting, as involuntary Australasian colonists, often in chains, the remnants of a diminished highland populace. I wonder if Arthur pondered the proud name of the vessel that carried him from Tilbury to Ceylon? The Albemarle.

   And did my great-grandfather, finessing his autobiographical summary, remember the diatribe published in Gentleman’s Magazine in June 1739, the one quoted by T.M. Devine in The Scottish Clearances?

   ‘In this great Extent of Country, Ignorance and Superstition greatly prevail: In some Places the Remains even of Paganism are still to be found… Inhabitants being destitute of all Means and Knowledge, and without any Schools to educate their Children, are entirely ignorant of the principles of Religion and Virtue, live in Idleness and Poverty, have no notion of Industry… are subject to the Will and Command of their Popish disaffected Chieftains…’


   Patrick Sellar, henchman of the Sutherland land barons, one of the most hated and feared of the clearance agents, expressed his contempt for the smallholders and cottars he unhoused, dismissing them as ungodly primitives or ‘aborigines’.

   The same language came back with Victorian pirates of Empire laying out their rubber and coffee plantations on the banks of the Upper Amazon. At the climax of his survey for the Peruvian Corporation of London, Arthur Sinclair expresses his awe at the fecundity of the low jungle and his justification, as the apologists for the great Scottish landowners had it, for granting rights of exploitation only to those who had the means to carry the process through.

   The young Arthur Sinclair is resourceful, hardworking, and independent of spirit: the qualities he comes to admire, or demand, in others. I think of the poet John Clare, who adopted an elective Scottish persona when it suited him, to honour his mysterious itinerant grandfather, and in sympathy with the plaid-wrapped drovers resting, watering, feeding their cattle on the long drive from the borders to the meat markets of London, where they serviced a perpetually hungry militarised regime. Highland cattle were being organised as an industrial resource, penned and fattened at the expense of survivalist clansmen outside the cash economy. Just as, much later, the Peruvian coffee planters introduced cattle to destroy the permitted gardens of their debt-encumbered labourers.

   With his first earnings as a gardener, my ancestor, the future plantsman, hiked to Aberdeen and bought six volumes of James Hervey’s Reflections on a Flower-Garden – as Clare had tramped from Helpston to Stamford, before the bookshop opened, to secure a coveted copy of James Thomson’s The Seasons. And like Clare, Arthur paused on his return journey to investigate his purchase.

   As I walked from Aberdeen I could not help sitting down occasionally by the wayside to dip into it.


   My great-grandfather soon discovered Oliver Goldsmith and Thomas De Quincey.

   The beauty of the prose-poems and neatness of the humour was such as I had never before met with.


   The practical mysteries of propagation and grafting now cohabited with another less focused compulsion, the urge to write. After reading Alexander von Humboldt’s Essay on the Geography of Plants, the volume-hungry youth conceived an ambition to follow in the author’s footsteps, over the Andes to the golden lands.

   
For eighteen months I laboured here; the work was hard but interesting enough. Yet, the plants were only native trees or handy flowers from temperate latitudes, and I, longing to make the acquaintance of exotics from warmer regions, now apprenticed myself to a garden where there were good hot-houses, preparing, like many a better man, for what was to follow… Through the Balsam (Impatiens), Nepenthes plumeria and the Gloriosa superba, I was first introduced to Ceylon. I was in my element, and my special hobby and delight was in tracing every exotic I came across, to its original home, a labour which gave me much pleasurable reading.

In four years I had reached the top of my ambition as a gardener, and with the wide world before me began to look towards the Tropics for a more congenial field. I had already begun writing for the local press. My first accepted article being on ‘Evergreens’, a contribution which led to the life-long friendship of Mr. Wm. Alexander, Editor of the Aberdeen Free Press, and one of the kindliest, purest-souled men I ever intimately knew.



   
   ——

   Apprenticeship completed, and the itch to be elsewhere declaring itself, Arthur came under the patronage of a wealthy proprietor with overseas estates. Sir John Cheape, who was paying a visit to Lady Elphinstone, made a detour to the garden where my great-grandfather worked, in order to ask for his advice on sending certain varieties of rhododendrons to Ceylon.

   
‘Will they grow?’

‘Unquestionably.’

‘How do you know?’

‘I have just been reading Dr Hoffmeister’s book in which he says that Rhododendrons not only grow wild at Nuwara Eliya and other upland districts, but on the very top of Adam’s Peak he found a gorgeous display of blooms.’



   
   
   
   Cheape is impressed by the confidence of the reply, the bookish display of the young autodidact, and he decides to ship Arthur out to his estates near Kandy, in company with the rhododendrons and a letter of instruction to the manager. Sir John, an engineer and military man, a brigadier-general when the Second Anglo-Burmese War broke out, was accustomed to swift and decisive action. He had a sure eye for talent. And ambition.

   The landowner with whom Cheape had been staying, Lady Elphinstone, made a significant gesture in the direction of opening up previously inaccessible highland territory, by cutting, on behalf of the Great North of Scotland Railway Company, the first ceremonial sod of a line that would run to the west, from the outskirts of Aberdeen to the town of Huntly. The plan was to forge a link, from Inverness by way of Aberdeen, with the railways of the south. Lady Elphinstone’s husband, Sir James, ‘marvelled at the physical strength of the navvies’ cutting the track – as Arthur was later to marvel at workers ‘hung over the cliffs by ropes, looking like venturesome apes’, when they built the pioneer railway over the Andes. A venture that would link Lima with the permanently smoke-shrouded hub at La Oroya, a filthy smelting settlement where grazing areas were already being turned into a dust desert and mountains into scarred albino monuments.

   Not quite two years after Lady Elphinstone’s incisive thrust at the turf, with the faintest of bows towards her baronet husband, chairman of the Board of Railway Directors, the line opened to goods traffic. Labour was cheap in those days and there were fewer foot-dragging political considerations and no computer systems to bed in. A week later, a special passenger train made the run successfully, attended by bands, commemorative poems – ‘What ho! Ye sturdy Burgers’ – and hundreds of waving schoolchildren. Dressed tables were laid out for a banquet in a marquee set up in a field beside the River Bogie. A feast attended by company directors, engineers, substantial landowners and selected farmers from along the route. Sir James delighted the assembled throng with a speech promising that this modest little railway, less ‘florid and ornamental’ than some others, would carry passengers ‘safely to the end of their journey’.

   Five days later a passenger train held at Killybrewster station was hit by an engine coming from Huntly. The driver missed the danger signal and ploughed into the back of a Third Class carriage, reducing it to matchwood. Other carriages were forced from the line. There was one fatality and numerous injuries among the third-class passengers. The single reported accident in the superior carriages was to a certain Captain A. Lewis, ‘a gentleman belonging to Lloyd’s’, who was travelling north on matters of marine insurance.

   My great-grandfather, having used his time on board the Albemarle to establish himself as the ship’s scribe, comes ashore in Colombo on 10 June 1858, and heads straight to the offices of the local newspaper, the Observer. Then away to the hills.

   My destination was Rangalla, a district that stood A1 in coffee planters’ estimation, and Battegalla, which was acknowledged at that time to be the finest hill estate in the island. Mr Duckworth, the fortunate proprietor, resided there and received me with great kindness. His father – one of the merchant princes of Liverpool – I had visited before leaving England… Battegalla was indeed an ideal estate, combining good soil and shelter with a glorious view of the rich lowcountry beyond, 350 acres bearing at the rate of fully 15 cwt., per acre, an ample labour supply, rising prices, and altogether the prospects were as bright as ever they were before or since in Ceylon.


   All the high moments of Arthur Sinclair’s life seem to involve a sudden sweep of landscape, an elevated view, and a splendid prospect of new territory that, through a play on words, is translated into career prospects: good fortune with yellow sunsets rippling through the pores and veins and capillaries and conferring the Midas touch on the transported observer. Fertile ground, famous yields, capital accumulated. And somewhere along the way, unmentioned, uncelebrated, a silent family.

   A letter from the editor of the Observer arrives at the hill station with the news that Captain Collett of the Albemarle is stalking the waterfront like a figure out of Conrad, ‘with an armful of papers from Aberdeen’, featuring Arthur’s contributions from the voyage. And now Ferguson of the Observer wants to put in his own bid for the services of the newcomer’s pen. And coffee prices are climbing and climbing: golden blends, golden days. Arthur is in demand as soil magus, visiting agent and coming author.

   Few outdoor occupations could be more attractive than coffee planting in the ‘fifties’. Coolies were more docile than they are now, the surrounding Sinhalese less corrupted and more respectful. The busy crop season was soon over and then came ample leisure, the interesting process of pruning, the beautiful blossoming time when bumper crops were estimated, after which those so minded could readily be spared for a sporting trip to Bintenne. Monotonous as the work seemed to many, to me it was a daily delight, albeit the climate had its drawbacks.


   Ceylon remained the shining pearl, the setting to which Arthur returned, the island where two of his sons, their histories lost to me, became planters in their turn. The rainy season came on him unexpectedly, torrents poured through the weather-boarding of the bungalow and the newcomer shivered. There was no fireplace, no flannel shirt. He went down with ‘a rattling case of dysentery’, nature’s gentle cull. The new beginning was almost the end. Arthur was carried thirty miles to Kandy by his estate workers. Dr Charsley, who inspected him that first evening, said: ‘If you have any little matters to put right, any important letters to write, I would advise you to see to them now.’

   The body was wasted, the dreams feverish, but the convalescence was sweet. And ‘never to be forgotten’. The doctors took Arthur for drives to the Peradeniya Royal Botanic Gardens, a designated satellite of Kew. Conceived and laid out by King Wickramabahu III in 1371, as a pleasure garden for his Queen, the park was ‘converted’ by the British, six years after the fall of the last King of Sri Lanka, in 1821. Arthur was enchanted. Wherever he found himself on future questing travels, in other lands, he made it his business to seek out, inspect and evaluate the botanical gardens.

   Dr Thwaites did so much to encourage and gratify my taste for plants. It was during one of these visits that I saw the first cuttings of cinchona ever introduced into Ceylon being planted in a propagating frame.


   The miracle of quinine! Cinchona is an evergreen tree or shrub native to South America; to Peru, Ecuador and Bolivia. Its bark yields the invaluable quinine, the colonist’s friend. The most efficacious anti-malarial medicine then known to mankind. Episodes of state-sponsored bio-piracy delivered cinchona to Ceylon. Arthur, in his weakened state, still a little delirious, was there to witness the initial propagation. Attempts were being made by British expeditions, approved or freelance, to smuggle cinchona from the Andes to Kew. The justification, as ever, being that natives could not be trusted to harvest and exploit an important life-giving drug without outside direction. There was a Christian obligation to steal in a good cause. Indigenous people, driven by necessity and under the direction, very often, of ruthless plant-hunters, ripped out the trees with no notion of replanting what seemed to be an infinite god-given resource, the healing fruits of a lost Eden. Religious fundamentalists preached and pontificated: god’s tactical plan, from the moment of the original expulsion from the garden, was to allow wild-eyed desert prophets to rediscover and reclaim the benefits renounced by Adam. Every plant, in its intricate structure, was a small reflection of the divine plan. Joe Jackson in The Thief at the End of the World discusses the era of cinchona’s propagation in Ceylon.

   The reality of plant transfer was not at issue. What emerged with the 1859 cinchona theft was a new rationale. The Earth was a treasure house that had to be managed: Nature belonged to man to harvest and ‘improve’. This was especially true in the tropics, where vegetable riches ran rampant but were also wasted and destroyed. By the Victorian era, when the British Empire had endowed its expansion with a moral flavour, the idea had a new urgency. Not only the conquest of nature was at stake but the course of the future… To Benjamin Kidd in his 1898 The Control of the Tropics, the native had no right ‘to prevent the utilization of the immense natural resources which they have in charge.’ This certainly applied to the profligate Andeans killing off the world’s shrinking stock of quinine.


   What Jackson exposes is the covert aspect of the Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, as a ‘great machine’ designed to facilitate eco-piracy on behalf of Empire: a gold machine. By 1821, Kew had become an instrument of the State, with a mandate to supply the estates and gardens of the colonies and dependencies. Beyond recuperative walks opened to make strollers feel good about themselves, there was the obligation to carry out bio-pharmaceutical research and development. A new academic discipline was launched: economic botany. Plants were shipped to where they could turn the best profit, from wilderness to plantation.

   Promoters of twenty-first-century Sri Lanka tourist packages, not the softest sell in the light of recent hotel bombings and interracial atrocities, gloss the Peradeniya Botanic Gardens as a small paradise rescued from the colonial era. ‘It was the British colonialist rulers (1815–1948) who destroyed the invaluable forest cover of a thousand wooded hills from Kandy to Badulla in the Central Highlands. Lands protected by the gentle sway of Buddhism, which indoctrinated a respect for all living beings. Wooded hills were converted to Ceylon Coffee and following the devastation of “coffee rust” in 1869 to seamless hill plantations of tea. The very same British Colonist rulers established the Peradeniya Botanic Gardens that contribute, today, towards the enlightenment of concepts of floriculture conservation, birdlife conservation, butterfly conservation, biodiversity and sustainability.’

   Arthur recovered, worked, thrived. He entered what he called the ‘busiest portion of my life’. Travelling ‘over the length and breadth of the island for the next ten years’, as Visiting Agent, he was ‘almost continuously in the saddle’. For a writer, this was rich experience: long solitary rides in all weathers, the registering of slight differences in soil conditions, expanding taxonomies of flora and fauna. And always, over the brow, in the next valley, a new estate, another ‘character’ to engage with, to register and record. The process is Conradian, with an anticipatory dash of Somerset Maugham. Arthur relished the company of these isolated men, out of their homelands, many were fellow Scots. He relished eccentricity and difference. He had little time for the ‘average John Bull who bullies appus and kicks kudirakarens’. And there were plenty of these, incompetent, put away by landed families, or left, unchecked, to chase the coffee boom, letting rich harvests rot while they caroused, indulged and sickened.

   When Arthur returned from his convalescence, he found his associate, ‘poor Mr Duckworth’, in the midst of the season’s crop, attempting work for which he was thoroughly unfitted: wet coffee cherries lay five feet deep on the barbecue. A sickening black smoke could be seen for miles around.

   There were sportsmen, big and small game hunters, dedicated drinkers, amateur poets and addicts. There were planters driven mad by the rain and the loneliness. There were suicides and murders.

   Mr Duckworth, though not a planter, was a gentleman of refined tastes, and managed to employ his time in a very interesting, if not very profitable manner: a musician of no mean order, he could paint passably and even dabbled in verse, would often send a messenger to call me from a distant corner of the estate to hear or see his latest effort, and if I could but suggest a word or half a note by which a line would go more smoothly, he was more pleased than if I had added another cwt per acre to the crop. ‘Don’t go away,’ he would say, ‘tiffin is coming, and what do we pay kanganis for but to look after coolies.’


   Among Arthur’s closest friends was one of the eastern Wodehouse tribe, Mr Haye Wodehouse. They travelled together and exchanged letters. They agreed a joint account to subscribe to literary magazines of the day.

   Son of Canon Wodehouse, a family of stupendous pedigree, Haye was a highly polished, scholarly aristocrat with all the advantages I most lacked, yet he was pleased to discover many affinities in our reading tastes… This of itself was an education for me which I greatly appreciated… Wodey was always dignified and leisurely, whether dressed for dinner or enjoying his matutinal pipe… He was inclined to be lazy, but always suave and kind to the meanest coolly!


   It was inevitable that Arthur would attempt something like a fiction based on his years as Visiting Agent. Aged forty-six, he chose to publish his novella in Colombo, under a pseudonym. The chapbook was entitled How I Lost My Wattie. Or, Life in Ceylon and the Coffee-Planting Experience of an Auld Scotchman. This is now a pretty rare item. The National Library of Scotland reports that ‘no other copies have been traced in the UK’. I have Arthur’s own, and it makes strange reading. The narrative is in Scottish dialect, a first-person voice improving on something close to Arthur’s experiences from his arrival in Colombo. Coming ashore and ‘meetin a rascal o’ a Portugee on the street’, the hero is led to a coffin warehouse. ‘About a dizen ready-made coffins, an richt abun them hung a board: – Conveyance for Hire. I was the first tae tak tae my heels; and we never halted till within the Fort gate.’

   Here is a reforgotten curiosity, a dialect docu-fiction, in picaresque mode; a moral fable of venturing, of love and loss, published in 1878 in Ceylon. The narrator’s mother sells the farm left by her husband and passes on £1,500 to her waster son. With which he determines to ‘become the laird o’ a coffy estate’. And accordingly he picks out ‘the maist likely bit o’ wood – or jungle’. The facts and figures of investment and return haunt the story, along with the inevitable lurking disasters: sorry advice, government meddling and thieves on all sides.

   My expectations o’neist year were mair than realized. I got 400 cwts. o’crap – which wis shipped tae my accoont an brocht me som £1,400 in Mincing Lane. Meanwhile, my ootlay increased at an awfu an some what unaccountable rate, sae that in makin up my bukes I got the following result: –


   Actual estate expenses£850
Agents’ charge and interest85
Visiting100
Commission on rice & crop170
––
£1,205


   The novel, with its underlying anxieties, shadows Arthur’s brief autobiography of 1900. The true cost of abandoning family and homeland. Surely it was time to cash in?

   Beginning with a modest dozen estates, they gradually increased upon my hands, till at the end of my second year I had three times that number, and in a few years more the numbers rose to 100 or about one-twelfth of the island’s extent of Coffee, and my duties were not merely to report on the conditions of the estates, but to direct the cultivation and estimate the crops… My remuneration was now over £2,000 per annum, equal to that of the Lord Bishop! And yet I retired at the age of 40! Some remain the year too long… There was much to induce me to stay; but the superior attractions of Aberdeenshire prevailed.


   Family gathered around him on the grass, Arthur reclines with his newspapers. He reads, and he continues to write letters, to friends in Ceylon and to the Aberdeen press. I wonder if, in the hour of his success, in the acquiring of property and the securing of investments, he thought back to the clearances and the Gaelic songs of loss. The keening highland chants in the wake of lands enclosed for the penning and fattening of cattle, before the great drives south. These folk poems were like the tribal songs chorused by the Ashaninka people in their circling dances. ‘The gold that is in the calf-skin is what dispossessed the people. The gold of the red hide. And its influence is not good.’

   Arthur Rimbaud, visionary poet, fugue walker and despoiler of libraries, sickening in his trading post, wrote home to his ‘friends’ in July 1881. ‘I’m back from the interior, where I bought a considerable quantity of hides. I’ve a bit of a fever at present. I’m leaving again in a few days for a region totally unexplored by Europeans; and if I succeed in definitely setting out, it will be a journey of six weeks, hard and dangerous, but which could be profitable.’

   Gold and hides. Journeys and dreams. The voices resonate, confirming and contradicting. Torn maps fall out of previously unopened books to tempt us. I press my nose to the old dried leather and the chipped gilt lettering of Arthur Sinclair’s definitive 1895 volume. The expedition to the headwaters of the Amazon.
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